Public Document Pack

Dear Councillor
The next meeting of the PARISH COUNCILS LIAISON will be held at 6.30 pm on
THURSDAY, 1 APRIL 2021 by by ZOOM.
I do hope you can be there.
Yours sincerely

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
AGENDA

1.

APOLOGISE FOR ABSENCE (IF ANY)

2.

TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS (Pages 3 - 4)
MEETING

3.

MATTERS ARISING FROM THE PREVIOUS MINUTES (IF
ANY)

4.

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY AND NON PECUNIARY
INTERESTS
Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in respect of matters
contained in the agenda.

5.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION (IF ANY)

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
6.

CODE OF CONDUCT - REPORT
Report of Chief Executive – Enclosed.

7.

BRIEFING ON THE LOCAL PLAN - VERBAL
Briefing by Colin Hirst - Head of Regeneration and Housing

8.

BT PAY-PHONE REMOVAL CONSULTATION - VERBAL
UPDATE
Briefing by Colin Hirst - Head of Regeneration and Housing

(Pages 5 - 42)

MATTERS BROUGHT FORWARD BY PARISH COUNCILS
9.

HIGHWAY SAFETY - SABDEN PARISH COUNCIL
Background:
Highway safety issues for pedestrians are all high on the
agenda at Sabden and we believe other parishes have
similar concerns.
Purpose of the discussion:
To see if a joint approach in tackling this issue can be
agreed.

10.

DOG THEFT - MELLOR PARISH COUNCIL
Background:
Dog theft is on the increase and has been extensively
reported on TV, Radio and in the Press over recent months.
The North West has been identified as a hot spot for this type
of crime, particularly in rural areas like the Ribble Valley.
Purpose of the discussion:
1. To start a dialogue amongst interested parties to consider
what measures could be put in place to reduce the
incidence of dog theft in the Borough. The aim to make
the Ribble Valley a “no go area” for this crime.

2. Determining who could take the lead role in bringing the
parties together.
11.

PARKING, WASTE BINS AND DOG BINS. - AIGHTON,
BAILEY AND CHAIGLEY PARISH COUNCILS
For discussion.

12.

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

Electronic agendas sent to members of Parish Councils Liaison – Councillor Richard
Bennett, Councillor Alison Brown, Councillor Robert (Bob) Buller, Councillor Bridget
Hilton, Councillor Stuart Hirst, Councillor Brian Holden, Councillor Simon Hore,
Councillor Ged Mirfin, Councillor David Peat, Councillor Jennifer (Jenni) Schumann,
Councillor Gary Scott, Councillor Richard Sherras and Councillor Robert Thompson.

Contact: Democratic Services on 01200 414408 or committee.services@ribblevalley.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2
Minutes of Parish Councils Liaison
Meeting Date:
Present:

Thursday, 28 January 2021, starting at 6.30 pm
M Highton – Whalley (Chair)

Councillors:
R Bennett
A Brown
B Buller
B Hilton
S Hirst
B Holden

S Hore
G Mirfin
D Peat
G Scott
R Sherras
R Thompson

Parish Representatives:
N Bailey
K Barker
T Taylor
J Thompson
T Austin
E Twist
R Park
R Carr
R Porter
P Hunt
A Schofield
L Edge
R Assheton
P Entwistle
H Gee
J Hymas
S Pinder
C Pollard
R Vickers
L Edge
A Robinson
P Hallett
L Haworth
D Parker
J Brown
J Bremner
A Gaffney
S Houghton

Aighton, Bailey & Chaigley
Balderstone
Balderstone
Bashall Eaves & Mitton
Billington & Langho
Bolton-by-Bowland, Gisburn Forest & Sawley
Bolton-by-Bowland, Gisburn Forest & Sawley
Bowland Forest Higher
Chatburn
Chipping
Clayton-le-Dale
Clayton-le-Dale
Downham
Grindleton
Longridge TC
Mellor
Newton
Read
Sabden
Salesbury
Slaidburn & Easington
Thornley-with-Wheatley
Waddington
Waddington
Whalley
Wilpshire
Wilpshire
Wiswell

In attendance: Chief Executive and Head of Regeneration and Housing and Head of
Planning Services, Owen Newton (United Utilities), Tom Rimmer (UU) and Jemma
Parkinson (UU)
Also in attendance: Councillor S Atkinson
962

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Borough Councillor Jennifer Schumann
and from the following Parish Representatives:
Andy Glover - West Bradford
Nick Marsden – Mellor

Page 3

Jim Hargreaves – Dutton
Vicky Wilson – Barrow
Karen Corrigan - Dinckley

963

TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 30/01/20
The minutes of the meeting held on 30/01/20 were approved as a correct record and
signed by the Chairman.

964

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY AND NON PECUNIARY INTERESTS
There were no declarations of pecuniary and non-pecuniary interest.

965

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
There was no public participation.

966

PRESENTATION BY UNITED UTILITIES ON THE HAWESWATER AQUEDUCT
RESILIENCE PROGRAMME (HARP)
Representatives from United Utilities gave a presentation on the Haweswater
Aqueduct Resilience Programme (HARP). Numerous questions were asked and
answers provided in relation to traffic impact; vehicle numbers; route choice; length of
contract; climate issues and using local suppliers. For those questions that were not
answered on the night these would be followed up with United Utilities and circulated
to the Parish Councils.

967

MATTERS BROUGHT FORWARD BY PARISH COUNCILS
a. The matter of refilling the grit/salt bins in parishes was raised. Committee was
informed that the responsibility of this lay with Lancashire County Council.
b. Grindleton Parish Council raised the issue that their request for an additional
dog bin had been declined. The matter would be referred to the Head of
Environmental Services.

968

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
The Chairman informed the Committee that the next meeting would be on 1 April
2021 at 6.30pm.

The meeting closed at 8.15 pm
If you have any queries on these minutes please contact the committee clerk, Mike
Hill mike.hill@ribblevalley.gov.uk.

Page 4

Agenda Item 6
INFORMATION

RIBBLE VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO PARISH COUNCILS’ LIAISON COMMITTEE

meeting date:
title:
Author
submitted by:

THURSDAY, 1 APRIL 2021
LGA MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT & STANDARDS ARRANGEMENTS
(MEMBER CONDUCT)
HEAD OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

1

PURPOSE

1.1

To inform committee of the recommendations of best practice from the Committee of
Standards in Public Life (“CoSPL”), the launch of the LGA Model Code of Conduct
(“Model Code”) and the amendments which have been made to the Council’s Standards
Arrangements (“Arrangements”).

1.2

Relevance to the Council’s ambitions and priorities:


Community Objectives – }



Corporate Priorities –



Other Considerations – }

}

The Council has a duty to promote and maintain
high standards of conduct by Parish Councillors.

2

BACKGROUND

2.1

The Localism Act 2011 (“Act”) requires Councils (including Parish Councils) to:



Promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-opted
members
Adopt a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members and co-opted
members when they are acting in that capacity.

2.2

The Act also provides that a Parish Council may comply with the provision to adopt a
code by adopting the borough council’s. Some Parish Council’s have chosen to adopt
the Council’s Code of Conduct and others have adopted different Codes which comply
with the requirements of the Act.

2.3

The Council is required by the Act to have in place Arrangements to deal with an
allegation of a breach of the relevant code of conduct. This includes allegations that a
member of a Parish Council has breached its code of conduct. The Council began a
review of its Arrangements in 2020. In addition, the CoSPL published its review on
Local Government Ethical Standards in January 2019. Within that review they set out a
list of 15 items of best practice. The list of best practice is contained at Appendix 1 to this
report.

2.5

The CoSPL also recommended that the Local Government Association (“LGA”) should
create an updated model code of conduct, in consultation with representative bodies of
councillors and officers of all tiers of local government. The LGA has now done so, and
a copy is enclosed as Appendix 2 to this report.

Page 5

3

ISSUES

3.1

The Council has now made amendments to its Arrangements to address those issues
raised by the CoSPL and in its own review. The Arrangements are enclosed as
Appendix 3. These are the Arrangements which will be referred to should an allegation
be made about a member of a Parish Council.

3.2

The Council will consider whether to adopt the LGA Model Code as a whole or with
some amendment at its Accounts and Audit Committee in April 2021. It is understood
that Guidance will also be issued by the LGA at the end of March 2021.

3.3

Once the Council has adopted a revised Code of Conduct, it is the intention of the
Monitoring Officer, to run a series of training sessions for Parish Councillors later in the
year.

3.3

Committee should also note that the Society of Local Council Clerks has also recently
launched a Governance Toolkit. A link to the toolkit is attached which can be accessed
if your clerk is a member of this organisation.
https://www.slcc.co.uk/local-council-governance-toolkit-to-support-local-council-officers/

4

RISK ASSESSMENT

4.1

The approval of this report may have the following implications:


Resources – Resources will be required to provide training to Parish Council’s on
standards.



Technical, Environmental and Legal – N/A



Political – N/A



Reputation – The Council’s reputation will be enhanced by.



Equality & Diversity – N/A

5

CONCLUSION(S)

5.1

That Committee note the content of this report.

MAIR HILL
HEAD OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

MARSHAL SCOTT
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

For further information please ask for Mair Hill extension 4418
REF: MJH/Parish Council Liaison/1421

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:


Report to Accounts and Audit Committee 25 November 2020

Page 6

Appendix 1

List of best practice
Our best practice recommendations are directed to local authorities, and we expect that any local
authority can and should implement them. We intend to review the implementation of our best
practice in 2020.
Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and harassment
in codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and harassment,
supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered by such a
definition.
Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct requiring
councillors to comply with any formal standards investigation, and prohibiting trivial or
malicious allegations by councillors.
Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year and
regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community organisations and
neighbouring authorities.
Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both councillors and
the public, in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council
premises.
Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at
least once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV.
Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest test
against which allegations are filtered.
Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent
Persons.
Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to undertake
a formal investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to review and
comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to dismiss as being
without merit, vexatious, or trivial. List of best practice

Page 7

Appendix 1
Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of misconduct
following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as soon as possible
on its website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged by
the allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the reasoning of the decision-maker,
and any sanction applied.
Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible guidance
on its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the process for
handling complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and outcomes.
Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish councillor
towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council as a whole, rather
than the clerk in all but exceptional circumstances.
Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support and
management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish councils
within the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with adequate training,
corporate support and resources to undertake this work.
Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address
any conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps
should include asking the Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake
the investigation.
Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or which
they own as part of their annual governance statement, and give a full picture of their
relationship with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities should abide
by the Nolan principle of openness, and publish their board agendas and minutes and
annual reports in an accessible place.
Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or
group whips to discuss standards issues.

19

Page 8

APPENDIX 2

Local Government Association
Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020
Joint statement
The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our country’s
system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be held accountable and all
adopt the behaviors and responsibilities associated with the role. Our conduct as an
individual councillor affects the reputation of all councillors. We want the role of councillor to
be one that people aspire to. We also want individuals from a range of backgrounds and
circumstances to be putting themselves forward to become councillors.
As councillors, we represent local residents, work to develop better services and deliver
local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to represent our local
area; taking decisions fairly, openly, and transparently. We have both an individual and
collective responsibility to meet these expectations by maintaining high standards and
demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging behaviour which falls below expectations.
Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a councillor without being
intimidated, abused, bullied or threatened by anyone, including the general public.
This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good conduct and
safeguard the public’s trust in local government.

19 January 2021

Page 9

Introduction
The Local Government Association (LGA) has developed this Model Councillor Code of
Conduct, in association with key partners and after extensive consultation with the sector,
as part of its work on supporting all tiers of local government to continue to aspire to high
standards of leadership and performance. It is a template for councils to adopt in whole
and/or with local amendments.
All councils are required to have a local Councillor Code of Conduct.
The LGA will undertake an annual review of this Code to ensure it continues to be fitforpurpose, incorporating advances in technology, social media and changes in legislation.
The LGA can also offer support, training and mediation to councils and councillors on the
application of the Code and the National Association of Local Councils (NALC) and the
county associations of local councils can offer advice and support to town and parish
councils.
Definitions
For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-opted
member of a local authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member” is defined in
the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member of the authority but
who

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or;
b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint
subcommittee of the authority;
and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that
committee or sub-committee”.
For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes county councils, district
councils, London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and rescue
authorities, police authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, combined
authorities and National Park authorities.
Purpose of the Code of Conduct
The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor, in modelling the
behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to set out
the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is also to protect
you, the public, fellow councillors, local authority officers and the reputation of local
government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of all councillors and your
specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The LGA encourages the use of
support, training and mediation prior to action being taken using the Code. The
fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of
councillor and local government.
General principles of councillor conduct
Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public services,
including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority officers; should uphold the
Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan Principles.
Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed
specifically for the role of councillor.

19 January 2021

Page 10

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:

•
•
•
•

I act with integrity and honesty
I act lawfully
I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and
I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role of
councillor.

In undertaking my role:

•
•
•
•
•

I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community
I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any person
I avoid conflicts of interest
I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and
I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local
authority’s requirements and in the public interest.

Application of the Code of Conduct
This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of acceptance of
the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted member and continues to
apply to you until you cease to be a councillor.
This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a councillor
which may include when:

•

you misuse your position as a councillor

•

Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public with
knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor;

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:

•

at face-to-face meetings

•

at online or telephone meetings

•

in written communication

•

in verbal communication

•

in non-verbal communication

•

in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and comments.

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all times
when acting as a councillor.
Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the Code of
Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring Officer on any
matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish councillors are
encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to the Monitoring Officer.
Standards of councillor conduct
This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct required
of you as a councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a complaint may
be made against you, which may result in action being taken.
19 January 2021

Page 11

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they should be
followed.
General Conduct

1. Respect
As a councillor:

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect.
1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of partner
organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with respect and
respect the role they play.
Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word.
Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a councillor, you
can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a
robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or
organisations to personal attack.
In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude and
offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in councillors.
In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members of the
public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop any
conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local authority, the
relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow councillors, where
action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, and local authority
employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local authority’s
councillorofficer protocol.

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination As a councillor:
2.1 I do not bully any person.
2.2 I do not harass any person.
2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any person.
The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as
offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power
through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying might be
a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on social media, in
emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social events and may not always
be obvious or noticed by others.
The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that causes
alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at
least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted communications
and contact upon a person in a manner that could be expected to cause distress or fear in
any reasonable person.
Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected
characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's
identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment,
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation.
19 January 2021

Page 12

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a central
role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's performance
and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public commitment to equality
across public services.

3. Impartiality of officers of the council As a councillor:
3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of anyone
who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority.
Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless they
are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would
undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to understand, for example,
their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that they
have written. However, you must not try and force them to act differently, change their
advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their professional
integrity.

4. Confidentiality and access to information
As a councillor:

4.1 I do not disclose information:
a. given to me in confidence by anyone
b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be aware,
is of a confidential nature, unless
i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it;
ii. I am required by law to do so;
iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of
obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third
party agrees not to disclose the information to any other
person; or
iv. the disclosure is:
1. reasonable and in the public interest; and
2. made in good faith and in compliance with the
reasonable requirements of the local authority; and
3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its
release.

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a
councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family members,
my employer or my business interests.

4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by
law.
Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and printed
materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined circumstances. You should
work on this basis, but there will be times when it is required by law that discussions,
documents and other information relating to or held by the local authority must be treated in
a confidential manner. Examples include personal data relating to individuals or information
relating to ongoing negotiations.
19 January 2021

Page 13

Disrepute
As a councillor:

4.4 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.
As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and your
actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the
public. You should be aware that your actions might have an adverse impact on you, other
councillors and/or your local authority and may lower the public’s confidence in your or your
local authority’s ability to discharge your/it’s functions. For example, behaviour that is
considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your local authority into disrepute.
You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able to
constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes undertaken by
the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of Conduct.

5. Use of position As a councillor:
5.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage or
disadvantage of myself or anyone else.
Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain opportunities,
responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that will impact others.
However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to further your own or
others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly.

6. Use of local authority resources and
facilities As a councillor:

6.1 I do not misuse council resources.
6.2 I will, when using the resources of the local or authorising their use by
others:
a.
act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and
b.
ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes unless
that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, or be
conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the local authority or of
the office to which I have been elected or appointed.
You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you in
carrying out your duties as a councillor.
Examples include:

•
•
•
•
•

office support
stationery
equipment such as phones, and computers
transport
access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more effectively and
are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in accordance with
the purpose for which they have been provided and the local authority’s own policies
regarding their use.
19 January 2021

Page 14

7. Complying with the Code of Conduct As a
Councillor:

7.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority.
7.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or determination.
7.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be
involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings.

7.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I have
breached the Code of Conduct.
It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for you to
have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the local
authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned about the local
authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this with your Monitoring
Officer.
Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority

8. Interests
As a councillor:

8.1 I register and disclose my interests.
Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and
maintain a register of interests of members of the authority .
You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and fellow
councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. The register
is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The register
also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a willingness to be held
accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding whether or not you should disclose
an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early on if others think that a
potential conflict might arise. It is also important that the public know about any interest that
might have to be disclosed by you or other councillors when making or taking part in
decisions, so that decision making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to
ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained.
You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set
out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011.
Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If in
doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer.

10.

Gifts and hospitality

As a councillor:

10.1

I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which
could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable
suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from persons seeking
to acquire, develop or do business with the local authority or from
persons who may apply to the local authority for any permission, licence
or other significant advantage.

19 January 2021

Page 15

10.2

I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt.

10.3

I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or hospitality that
I have been offered but have refused to accept.

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should
exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you reasonably
believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The presumption should always
be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, there may be times when such a
refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in which case you could accept it but must
ensure it is publicly registered. However, you do not need to register gifts and hospitality
which are not related to your role as a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends
and family. It is also important to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and
hospitality associated with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your
Monitoring Officer for guidance.

19 January 2021

Page 16

Appendices
Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life
The principles are:
Selflessness
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.
Integrity
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or
organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not
act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their
family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests and relationships.
Objectivity
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using the
best evidence and without discrimination or bias.
Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and must
submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.
Openness
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner.
Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful
reasons for so doing.
Honesty
Holders of public office should be truthful.
Leadership
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should
actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor
behaviour wherever it occurs.
Appendix B Registering interests
Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you must
register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in Table
1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant Authorities
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register details of your
other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable
Interests).
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are
aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below.
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband
or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.

19 January 2021

Page 17

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 days
of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered interest,
notify the Monitoring Officer.

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the councillor,
or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence or intimidation.

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with the
reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer agrees
they will withhold the interest from the public register.
Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable
Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not
participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room
unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not
have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest.
Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate
and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive
function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any
steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal
with it
Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other
Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You
may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at
the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter
and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it
is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.

Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests
7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or
well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in Table 1) or a
financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the
interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed
to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote
on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a
dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the
interest.

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –
a. your own financial interest or well-being;
19 January 2021

Page 18

b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative, close associate; or
c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Other Registrable
Interests as set out in Table 2
you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the
meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:
a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;
b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it
would affect your view of the wider public interest
You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to
speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote
on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a
dispensation.
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have
made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make sure that any
written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of your interest.
Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.
Subject
Employment, office, trade,
profession or vocation

Description
Any employment, office, trade,
profession or vocation carried on for
profit or gain.
[Any unpaid directorship.]

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other
financial benefit (other than from the
council) made to the councillor during the
previous 12-month period for expenses
incurred by him/her in carrying out his/her
duties as a councillor, or towards his/her
election expenses.
This includes any payment or financial
benefit from a trade union within the
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts

Any contract made between the
councillor or his/her spouse or civil
partner or the person with whom the

19 January 2021

Page 19

councillor is living as if they were
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which
such person is a partner, or an incorporated
body of which such person is a director* or a
body that such person has a beneficial
interest in the securities of*) and the council
—
(a) under which goods or services are to be
provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.
Land and Property

Any beneficial interest in land which is within
the area of the council.
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude,
interest or right in or over land which does
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were spouses/
civil partners (alone or jointly with another) a
right to occupy or to receive income.

Licenses

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to
occupy land in the area of the council for a
month or longer
Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s
knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the council; and
(b) the tenant is a body that the
councillor, or his/her spouse or civil partner
or the person with whom the councillor is
living as if they were spouses/ civil partners
is a partner of or a director* of or has a
beneficial interest in the securities* of.

Corporate tenancies

19 January 2021

Page 20

Securities

Any beneficial interest in securities* of a
body where—
(a) that body (to the councillor’s
knowledge) has a place of business or land
in the area of the council; and
(b) either—
(i)
) the total nominal value of the
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of
more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were

spouses/civil partners has a beneficial
interest exceeds one hundredth of the
total issued share capital of that class.

‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and
provident society.

*

‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building
society.

*

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is
likely to affect:
a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you are
nominated or appointed by your authority
b) any body
(i) exercising functions of a public nature
(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or
policy (including any political party or trade union)

Appendix C – the Committee on Standards in Public Life
The LGA has undertaken this review whilst the Government continues to consider the
recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life in their report on Local
Government Ethical Standards. If the Government chooses to implement any of the
recommendations, this could require a change to this Code.
19 January 2021

Page 21

The recommendations cover:

•

Recommendations for changes to the Localism Act 2011 to clarify in law when the
Code of Conduct applies

•
•
•

The introduction of sanctions
An appeals process through the Local Government Ombudsman
Changes to the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations
2012

•
•
•

Updates to the Local Government Transparency Code
Changes to the role and responsibilities of the Independent Person
That the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable Pecuniary
Interests should be abolished

The Local Government Ethical Standards report also includes Best Practice
recommendations. These are:
Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and harassment in
codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and harassment,
supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered by such a definition.
Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct requiring
councillors to comply with any formal standards investigation and prohibiting trivial or
malicious allegations by councillors.
Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year and
regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community organisations and
neighbouring authorities.
Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both councillors and the
public, in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council premises.
Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at least
once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV.
Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest test
against which allegations are filtered.
Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent
Persons.
Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to undertake a
formal investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to
review and comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to dismiss as
being without merit, vexatious, or trivial.
Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of misconduct
following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as soon as possible
on its website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged by the
allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the reasoning of the decision-maker, and
any sanction applied.
Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible guidance on
its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the process for handling
complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and outcomes.

19 January 2021

Page 22

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish councillor
towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council, rather than the clerk in
all but exceptional circumstances.
Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support and
management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish councils
within the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with adequate training,
corporate support and resources to undertake this work.
Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any
conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps should
include asking the Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake the
investigation.
Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or which they
own as part of their annual governance statement and give a full picture of their relationship
with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities should abide by the Nolan
principle of openness and publish their board agendas and minutes and annual reports in
an accessible place.
Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or group
whips to discuss standards issues.

The LGA has committed to reviewing the Code on an annual basis to ensure it is still
fit for purpose.

19 January 2021

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3

Ribble Valley Borough Council
Model Arrangements
for dealing with standards allegations under the Localism Act
2011 (“Arrangements”)
1

Context

1.1

Ribble Valley Borough Council and the Parish Councils within the district have a shared legal
responsibility to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members of the authority.

1.2

Ribble Valley Borough Council’s approach to investigating complaints will be proportionate
to the seriousness of the complaint and the Council will in particular seek to ensure informal
resolution of complaints wherever possible.

1.3

These Arrangements set out how you may make a complaint that an elected or coopted
member of this authority, or of a parish council within its area, has failed to comply with the
Code of Conduct, and sets out how the authority will deal with allegations of a failure to
comply with a Code of Conduct.

1.4

Under Section 28(6) and (7) of the Localism Act 2011, the Council must have in place
“arrangements” under which allegations that a member or co-opted member of the authority,
or of a parish council within the authority’s area, or of a Committee or Sub-Committee of the
authority, has failed to comply with that authority’s Code of Conduct can be investigated and
decisions made on such allegations.

1.5

Such arrangements must provide for the authority to appoint at least one Independent Person,
whose views must be sought by the authority before it takes a decision on an allegation which
it has decided shall be investigated, and whose views can be sought by the authority at any
other stage, or by a member, or a member or co-opted member of a parish council, against
whom an allegation as been made.

2

The Code of Conduct

2.1

The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for members, which can be found at Part 5 of the
Council’s constitution and is available for inspection on the Council’s website and on request
from Reception at the Council Offices.

2.2

Each Parish Council is also required to adopt a Code of Conduct. If you wish to inspect a
Parish Council’s Code of Conduct, you should inspect any website operated by the Parish
Council and request the Parish Clerk to allow you to inspect the Parish Council’s Code of
Conduct.

Page 25

1

Appendix 3
3
3.1

Making a complaint
If you wish to make a complaint, please write, or email to –
The Monitoring Officer
Ribble Valley Borough Council
Council Offices
Church Walk
Clitheroe BB7 2RA
Or – mair.hill@ribblevalley.gov.uk

3.2

If a disability prevents you from making your complaint in writing you may contact the
Monitoring Officer by telephone on 01200 425111.

3.3

The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the authority who has statutory responsibility for
maintaining the register of members’ interests and who is responsible for administering the
system in respect of complaints of member misconduct.

3.4

In order to ensure that we have all the information which we need to be able to process your
complaint, please complete and send us the model complaint form, which can be downloaded
from the authority’s website, and is available on request from Reception at the Council
Offices.

3.5

When setting out your complaint you should explain which part of the relevant code of conduct
you consider has been breached.

3.6

Please do provide us with your name and a contact address or email address, so that we can
acknowledge receipt of your complaint and keep you informed of its progress. If you want to
keep your name and address confidential, please indicate this in the space provided on the
complaint form, in which case we will not disclose your name and address to the member
against whom you make the complaint, without your prior consent. The authority does not
normally investigate anonymous complaints unless there is a clear public interest in doing so.

3.7

The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of your complaint within 5 working days of
receiving it and will keep you informed of the progress of your complaint.

4

Will your complaint be investigated?

4.1

The Monitoring Officer will review every complaint received and, after consultation with the
Independent Person, take a decision as to whether it merits formal investigation. This decision
will normally be taken within 14 days of receipt of your complaint. Where the Monitoring
Officer has taken a decision, he/she will inform you of his/her decision and the reasons for
that decision.

4.2

Where he/she requires additional information to come to a decision, he/she may come back to
you for such information and may request information from the member against whom your
complaint is directed. The Member will be informed that a complaint has been received and
may request, and save in exceptional circumstances, will required if requested, a copy of the
complaint. Where your complaint relates to a Parish Councillor, the Monitoring Officer may
also inform the Parish Council of your complaint and seek the views of the Parish Council
before deciding whether the complaint merits formal investigation.

Page 26

2

Appendix 3

4.3

The Monitoring Officer will review the complaint and after consultation with the Independent
Person may decide not to investigate your complaint if he/she decides it is inappropriate to do
so. Among the reasons for taking this decision are:
•

The potential seriousness of the breach (if true).

•

The likely cost of an investigation in time and other resources.

•

The sufficiency of evidence of the alleged breach.

•

Whether the complaint falls outside of the Localism Act 2011 and/or the Code of Conduct,
including for example where the Member who is the subject of the complaint was not acting
in their capacity as a Councillor at the time the alleged conduct occurred.

•

Other actions either to remedy the complaint or prevent its re-occurrence (such as reference to
the relevant Parish Clerk) or an informal resolution is seen as more appropriate.

•

The Member is no longer a serving member of the relevant Council (other than referring a
potentially criminal matter to the Police).

•

Whether the complaint is anonymous – the Council will not normally investigate anonymous
complaints unless there is a clear public interest in doing so.

•

The passage of time – if the complaint happened so long ago that there would be little benefit
in acting now.

•

The complaint is one that the Monitoring Officer believes has been (or largely has been)
determined before.

•

Any other circumstances bearing upon the public interest.

Informal Resolution

4.4

In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the complaint informally,
without the need for a formal investigation. Such informal resolution may involve the member
accepting that his/her conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology, or other remedial
action by the authority. Where the member or the authority make a reasonable offer of local
resolution, but you are not willing to accept that offer, the Monitoring Officer will take account
of this in deciding whether the complaint merits formal investigation.

Referral to the Police or other agency
4.5

If your complaint identifies criminal conduct or breach of other regulation by any person, the
Monitoring Officer has the power to call in the Police and other regulatory agencies.

Page 27

3

Appendix 3
5

How is the investigation conducted?

5.1

The procedure for investigating a complaint is set out in Annex 1

5.2

Where complaints are received from more than one Complainant which relate to the same or
similar allegations, the Monitoring Officer has discretion to consolidate the complaints so
that they are dealt with as part of one investigation and if appropriate, are heard at one hearing.

6

What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is no evidence of a failure to comply
with the Code of Conduct?
The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and, if he/she is satisfied that the
Investigating Officer’s report is sufficient, the Monitoring Officer will write to you and to the member
concerned, and to the Parish Council, where your complaint relates to a Parish Councillor, notifying
you that he/she is satisfied that no further action is required, and give you both a copy of the
Investigating Officer’s final report. If the Monitoring Officer is not satisfied that the investigation has
been conducted properly or feels that there are matters requiring further clarification, he/she may ask
the Investigating Officer to reconsider his/her report.

7

What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is evidence of a failure to comply with
the Code of Conduct?

7.1

The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report in the same way as at
paragraph 6 above and will then either send the matter for local hearing before the Hearings
Panel or, after consulting the Independent Person, seek local resolution.

Local Resolution
7.2

The Monitoring Officer may consider that the matter can reasonably be resolved without the
need for a hearing. In such a case, he/she will consult with the Independent Person and with
you as complainant and seek to agree what you consider to be a fair resolution which also
helps to ensure higher standards of conduct for the future. Such resolution may include the
member accepting that his/her conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology, and/or other
remedial action by the authority. If the member complies with the suggested resolution, the
Monitoring Officer will report the matter to the Accounts and Audit Committee, and the Parish
Council, if the complaints relate to a Parish council, for information, but will take no further
action. If, however you tell the Monitoring Officer that any suggested resolution would not
be adequate, the Monitoring Officer will consider referring the matter for local hearing and
may take the Independent Person’s view into account in making that decision as to whether
the matter should proceed to a hearing is for the Monitoring Officer, who will exercise his/her
discretion reasonably.

Local Hearing
7.3

If the Monitoring Officer considers that local resolution is not appropriate, or you are not
satisfied by the proposed resolution, or the member concerned is not prepared to undertake
any proposed remedial action, such as giving an apology, then the Monitoring Officer will
report the Investigating Officer’s report to the Subcommittee. Which will conduct a local
hearing before deciding whether the member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct
and, if so, whether to take any action in respect of the member.

Page 28

4

Appendix 3
7.4

8

The Council has agreed a procedure for local hearings, which is attached as Annex 2 to these
Arrangements.

Who are the Hearing Panel?

8.1

The Hearing Panel is a Subcommittee selected from the Council’s Accounts and Audit
Committee. The Accounts and Audit Committee has decided it will comprise three members
of the Committee.

8.2

The Independent Person is invited to all meetings of the Subcommittee and their views sought
and taken into consideration before the Subcommittee takes any decision on whether the
member’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct and as to any
action to be taken following a finding of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.

9

What happens at the end of the hearing?

9.1

At the end of the hearing, the Chair will state the decision of the Subcommittee as to whether
the member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and as to any actions which the
Subcommittee resolves to take.

9.2

In accordance with the procedure at Annex 2, the Monitoring Officer shall prepare a formal
decision notice in consultation with the Chair of the Subcommittee, and send a copy to you,
to the subject member (and to the Parish Council), make that decision notice available for
public inspection and report the decision to the next convenient meeting of the Accounts and
Audit Committee.

9.3

The decision notice will include a brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged
by the allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the reasoning of the Subcommittee,
and any sanction applied.

10

10.1

11

What action can the Sub-Committee take where a member has failed to comply with the Code of
Conduct?
The Council has delegated to the Sub-Committee such of its powers to act in respect of
individual members as may be necessary to promote and maintain high standards of conduct.
These are set out in paragraph 7 of Annex 2 to these Arrangements.

Who is the Independent Person?
The Council has provision for three Independent Persons. Currently one is in post who applied for the
post following advertisement of a vacancy for the post and was appointed by a positive vote from a
majority of all the members of Council on 17 July 2012. [to be updated following current recruitment
process]

12

Revision of these arrangements
The Committee may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements and has delegated to the
Chairman of the Accounts and Audit Committee the right to depart from these arrangements where
he/she considers that it is expedient to do so to secure the effective and fair consideration of any matter.

Page 29

5

Appendix 3
13

Appeals
There is no right of appeal for you as complainant or for the member against a decision of the
Monitoring Officer or of the Hearings Panel
If you feel that the authority has failed to deal with your complaint properly, you may make a complaint
to the Local Government Ombudsman.

Page 30

6

Appendix 3
Annex 1
PROCEDURE FOR INVESTIGATION OF COMPLAINTS
1

Introduction

1.1

Where the Monitoring Officer has decided to refer a complaint about a Member for
investigation, the Monitoring Officer must then arrange for an Investigating Officer to
investigate and prepare a report.

1.2

The following is the procedure which will normally be followed in such investigations,
although the Monitoring Officer may vary the procedure in any case if he/she considers this
desirable in the interests of justice or fairness or the effective conduct of the investigation.

1.3

Interpretation
1.3.1

“Member” means the Member of Ribble Valley Borough Council or a Parish Council
within its district who is the subject of the complaint.

1.3.2

“Investigating Officer” means the person appointed by the Monitoring Officer to
undertake the investigation.

1.3.3

“Complainant” means the person who has made the complaint against the Member.

1.3.4

“Sub-Committee” means any Sub-Committee to which the Accounts and Audit
Committee has delegated the conduct of the hearing.

1.3.5

“Legal adviser”' means the officer responsible for providing legal advice to the SubCommittee. This may be the Monitoring Officer, another legally qualified officer of
the Authority, or someone appointed for this purpose from outside the Authority.

2. Action Following Decision to Investigate
Appointment of Investigating Officer
2.1

Where the Monitoring Officer decides that an allegation should be investigated, they will
appoint an Investigating Officer and instruct him/her to investigate the allegation and produce
a report thereon. The Investigating Officer may be an officer of the authority, an officer of
another local authority, or an external person.

2.2

The Investigating Officer may appoint persons to assist him/her and may obtain such
professional advice as may be necessary for the conduct of the investigation.

2.3

The Monitoring Officer will notify in writing the Member and the Complainant and the
Independent Person(s) that an investigation is to be undertaken and will confirm:

2.3.1
2.3.2
2.3.3
2.3.4
2.4

the identity of the Complainant.
the conduct which is the subject of the allegation.
the section(s) of the Code of Conduct which appear(s) to be relevant to the allegation.
the identity of the Investigating Officer.
If the complaint relates to a Parish Council, the Monitoring Officer will at the same time also
notify the Clerk to the Parish Council.

Page 31

7

Appendix 3

2.5

The Monitoring Officer may withhold some or all this information from the Member if the
Complainant has demonstrated exceptional reasons as to why such information may be
withheld or where disclosure of details of the complaint to the Member at this stage of the
process might prejudice the investigation.

2.6

In most cases, it will become necessary at some point for the Member to be informed of the
identity of the Complainant and in all cases, for the Member to be informed of the nature of
the allegations. The Monitoring Officer will decide whether and at what stage this
information will be provided to the Member.

Initial response of the Member
2.7

In notifying the Member of the referral for investigation, the Monitoring Officer shall also
request the Member to notify the Investigating Officer in writing, within 10 working days, of
the following:

2.7.1

whether the Member admits or denies the alleged breach of the Code.

2.7.2

any initial comment, explanation, or representations which the Member wishes to make in
relation to the allegation.

2.7.3

any documents the Member would wish the Investigating Officer to take into account in the
investigation, where possible providing copies of these documents, and advising where the
originals can be inspected.

2.7.4

the name, address, and telephone number (or other contact details) of any person whom the
Member would wish the Investigating Officer to interview in the course of the investigation,
and the relevance of that person.

2.7.5

any information the Member would wish the Investigating Officer to seek from any person or
organisation.

2.7.6

any other information which the Member considers might be relevant to or assist the
investigation.

Supporting information from the Complainant
2.6

When notifying the Complainant that the matter has been referred for investigation, the
Monitoring Officer shall also request that person to notify the Investigating Officer in
writing within 10 working days of:
2.6.1

any documents which he/she would wish the Investigating Officer to take into
account in the investigation, where possible providing copies of these documents,
and advising where the original documents may be inspected.

2.6.2

the name, address, and telephone number (or other contact details) of any person
whom the Complainant would wish the Investigating Officer to interview in the
course of the investigation and the relevance of that person.

2.6.3

any information which the Complainant would wish the Investigating Officer to
seek from any person or organisation.

Page 32

8

Appendix 3
2.6.4

any additional information which the Complainant has, and which might be relevant
to, or assist, the investigation.

3. Conduct of Investigation
3.1

The purpose of the investigation is to enable the Investigating Officer to prepare a report
which will provide sufficient information to determine whether the Member has acted in
breach of the Code of Conduct and, where there has been a breach, whether any action
should be taken, and if so, what action.

3.2

The Investigating Officer will conduct the investigation in such manner as he/she considers
best able to ascertain all relevant facts and to achieve the purpose of the investigation, having
regard to the rules of natural justice and the need for fairness.

3.3

The Investigating Officer will be entitled to seek all relevant information (including
documents) that appears necessary or expedient to the conduct of the investigation and can
make enquiries of any person believed to have such information, including the Member, the
Complainant, other Members, or officers of the Council and third parties. All such persons
will be expected to co-operate fully with the Investigating Officer and respond properly to
such enquiries and provide such information as they can and to attend for interview by the
Investigating Officer if requested.

3.4

The Investigating Officer will be able to seek information in such manner as he/she thinks
appropriate, which may include in writing, by telephone or email, or in person. He/she will
attempt to arrange any interviews at a time and place convenient to those concerned.

3.5

Any person who appears before the Investigating Officer for interview may be accompanied
by a legal representative or friend provided such a person is not a potential witness in the
investigation. An interview or telephone conversation may be tape recorded to save time and
ensure accuracy, but only with the consent of both the Investigating Officer and the
interviewee.

Other Breaches
3.6

If during the investigation, the Investigating Officer becomes aware of any other matter
which appears to him/her to indicate a breach of the Code by the Member (apart from the
breach which he/she is currently investigating), the Investigating Officer shall report the
matter to the Monitoring Officer who will provide the Member with details of the matter and
invite the Member to provide a statement as to why the additional matter does not constitute
a breach of the Code. The Monitoring Officer will then determine, in consultation with the
Independent Person whether the additional matter should also be investigated.

3.7

The Monitoring Officer may in certain circumstances defer an investigation if he/she
considers it appropriate, for example because it might prejudice some other investigation or
court proceedings concerning the matter.

Page 33

9

Appendix 3

4. The Draft Report
4.1

On completion of his/her investigation, the Investigating Officer shall prepare a draft report
marked ‘confidential’ setting out:

4.1.1

details of the allegation.

4.1.2

the relevant provisions of the Code of Conduct and any relevant Protocol.

4.1.3

the Member’s response to the allegation (if any).

4.1.4

any relevant information, advice and explanations obtained during the investigation.

4.1.5

a list of any relevant documents.

4.1.6

a list of persons interviewed or from whom information has been sought.

4.1.7

a note of any person or organisation who has failed to co-operate with the investigation and
the manner of such failure.

4.1.8

a statement of the Investigating Officer’s draft findings of fact, with reasons.

4.1.9

the Investigating Officer’s provisional conclusion as to whether the Member has failed to
comply with the Code of Conduct, with reasons.

4.2

The draft report will also state that it does not necessarily represent the
Investigating Officer’s final finding, and that he/she will produce a final report once he/she
has considered any comments received on the draft report.

4.3

The Investigating Officer shall send a copy of the draft report, in confidence, to the Member
and the Complainant, and request that they send any comments on it to him/her in writing
within 10 working days of receipt. This is an opportunity for the Member and Complainant
to identify any matters with which they disagree or which they believe require further
consideration.

5. The Final Report
5.1

After the expiry of the period referred to in paragraph 4.3 (or such extended period as the
Investigating Officer may allow), the Investigating Officer shall reconsider and if
appropriate amend his/her draft report in the light of any comments received and
expeditiously produce a final report, which will be given to the Monitoring Officer.

5.2

The report will state that it represents the Investigating Officer’s final findings. The report
should have appended to it copies of any significant documents which the Investigating
Officer has relied on in reaching his/her conclusions, such as notes of telephone
conversations, letters, and notes of interviews and witnesses.

Page 34

10

Appendix 3
Annex 2
PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OF COMPLAINTS

1.

General

1.1.

These rules govern the conduct of hearings by the Hearing Sub-Committee.

1.2.

The hearing will be into the written allegation(s) of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct
made to the Council’s Monitoring Officer and investigated in accordance with the
arrangements adopted by the Council.

1.3.

A hearing may cover more than one allegation, or set of allegations, and more than one
investigation, if the Sub-Committee is satisfied that it is expedient and fair.

1.4.

In these rules:

1.4.1

“The Monitoring Officer” means the officer designated as the Monitoring Officer to the
Council, provided that if the Monitoring Officer is unable to act or has a conflict of interest
(for example as a result of having conducted an investigation into the complaint) then another
person or persons may perform the Monitoring Officer’s role and these rules will be construed
accordingly.

1.4.2

“The Subject Member” means the member or co-opted member against whom the allegation
of failure to comply with the relevant Code of Conduct has been made.

1.4.3

“The Investigator” means the person who has conducted an investigation into the allegation or
his or her representative at the hearing.

1.4.4

“The Complainant” means the person who made the written allegation(s) of failure to comply
with the Code of Conduct.

2.

Composition and voting

2.1.

The Sub-Committee will comprise three voting members drawn from the Accounts and Audit
Committee, one of whom shall be appointed or elected to chair the meeting. The members will
be selected in accordance with the legislation on political balance on committees.

2.2.

The quorum for a meeting is three members.

2.3.

All matters before the Sub-Committee will be decided by a simple majority of votes cast. In
the case of equality of votes, the member chairing the meeting will have a second or casting
vote.

2.4.

An Independent Person appointed by the Council will be normally be present at the hearing.
The Sub-Committee must take the Independent Person’s views into account before reaching a
decision, but he or she will not participate in the hearing or in the decision as a member of the
Sub-Committee. Alternatively, if the Independent Person will not be present for all or part of
the hearing, he or she may submit his or her views to the Sub-Committee in writing.

Page 35

11

Appendix 3
3.

Before the hearing

3.1.

Before the hearing, the Monitoring Officer will, in order to identify the issues and the evidence
to be considered, and any procedural issues, provide the Subject Member with the
Investigator’s report and the accompanying evidence and invite the Subject Member and the
Investigator to:

(a)

Indicate the facts that are agreed and those that are not.

(b)

Indicate the issues in dispute.

(c)
Indicate whether they intend to introduce any additional evidence and the witnesses
they intend to call to give evidence.

(d)
State whether they would like all or any part of the hearing to be conducted in private
and, if so, why.
(e)

State whether they intend to be present at the hearing.

(f)

State whether they intend to be represented at the hearing and, if so, by whom.

3.2.

The Monitoring Officer will copy the replies to the Subject Member and the
Investigator or, if they so request, to their representatives.

3.3.

If the member chairing the meeting, or, if none has yet been appointed or elected, the Chair of
the Accounts and Audit Committee, considers that the additional evidence of any of the
witnesses that are proposed to be called will not assist the Sub-Committee to determine the
relevant issues (for example because the evidence or the witnesses’ evidence will not be
relevant, or will unnecessarily duplicate other evidence and prolong the hearing, then in
consultation with the Monitoring Officer he or she may direct that the evidence or the number
of witnesses should be limited. The Monitoring Officer will advise the Subject Member and
the Investigator of the direction.

3.4.

The Monitoring Officer will prepare a report to the meeting including the Investigator’s report
and the accompanying evidence. The proper officer will send the report to the members of the
Sub-Committee and make it available to the public in accordance with the statutory
requirements, excluding public access to any part of the report or background papers which,
in the proper officer’s opinion, relate only to any part of the hearing which is not likely to be
open to the public.

4.

Requests for adjournment and absence of parties

4.1.

If before the hearing the Subject Member requests an adjournment or indicates that he or she
will not be present or represented, the Monitoring Officer will consult the member chairing
the meeting, or, if none has yet been appointed or elected, the Chair of the Standards
Committee. The member consulted will consider any written representations made by the
Subject Member and may direct either that the hearing be adjourned or that the hearing will
take place.

Page 36

12

Appendix 3
4.2.

If the hearing then takes place, or if there has been no prior request but the Subject Member is
not present at the start of the hearing, or if the Subject Member is present or represented and
makes an oral request for an adjournment, then the Sub-Committee will decide whether to
adjourn or proceed with the hearing, taking into account the representations that have been
made. The Sub-Committee will consider whether it is satisfied with the reasons given for a
request for an adjournment or whether, in exceptional circumstances, it is not so satisfied, and
whether it is in the public interest to hear the allegations expeditiously. In the latter case the
Sub-Committee may proceed with the hearing in the Subject Member’s absence.

4.3.

The Complainant may attend the meeting if called as a witness, or otherwise, but need not do
so.

5.

Representation at the hearing

5.1.

The Subject Member may choose to be accompanied or represented at the hearing by a
professional representative, fellow Councillor, friend, or colleague.

5.2.

The Complainant can be accompanied by a friend or colleague. Unless called as a witness, or
requested by the Sub-Committee to address them, the Complainant has no right to participate
in the meeting.

6.

Conduct of the hearing

6.1.

Subject to the exercise of discretion by the Chair, the order of business at the hearing shall be
as set out below.

6.2.

The Chair may vary the order of business at his or her discretion where he or she considers it
expedient and fair to do so.

6.3.

The Sub-Committee may adjourn the hearing at any time.

6.4.

The Sub-Committee can decide at any time to resolve to exclude the press and public for the
following part of the hearing, or for the remainder of the hearing, if it is likely otherwise that
confidential or exempt information would be disclosed, in accordance with the provisions of
the Local Government Act 1972.

6.5.

The first items of business shall be:
(a)

the election of the Chair if none has been appointed.

(b)

any apologies for absence.

(c)

any declarations of interest.

(d)

if relevant at this time, consideration whether to exclude the press and public.

(e)
if relevant, consideration of any request for an adjournment, and/or whether to
proceed with the hearing in the absence of the Subject Member.
6.6.

The Chair will then introduce (if present) the members of the Sub-Committee, the Independent
Person, the Subject Member, any person representing the Subject Member. the Investigator,

Page 37

13

Appendix 3

6.7.

6.8.

the Monitoring Officer, and any other officers present to clerk the meeting or provide legal
advice to the Sub-Committee. The Chairman will explain their roles and outline the procedure
for the hearing.
Any witnesses of fact present in the room will then leave the room, apart from the Subject
Member. In exceptional circumstances the Chair may permit the Complainant to remain in the
room unless it would be unfair to do so.
The evidence presented must be relevant to the issues under consideration and should not be
unduly repetitious.

Presentation of the Investigation Report
6.9.

The Investigator will present his or her report and accompanying evidence and call his or her
witnesses, who may include the Complainant. The Investigator will not normally be permitted
to introduce new issues or evidence at this stage.

6.10.

The Subject Member or his or her representative may question the Investigator on the content
of his or her report and may question the witnesses called by the Investigator on their evidence.

6.11.

The members of the Sub-Committee may question the Investigator on the content of his or her
report and may question the witnesses called by the Investigator on their evidence.

Presentation of the Subject Member’s case
6.12.

The Subject Member or his or her representative will present his or her case and evidence and
call his or her witnesses.

6.13.

The Investigator may question the Subject Member and the witnesses called by the Subject
Member or his or her representative on their evidence.

6.14.

The members of the Sub-Committee may question the Subject Member and the witnesses
called by the Subject Member or his or her representative on their evidence.

Summing up
6.15.

The Investigator will sum up his or her case.

6.16.

The Subject Member or his or her representative will sum up his or her case.

6.17.

In summing up, the Investigator and the Subject Member or his or her representative should
express a view on any conflict of evidence and explain why, in their view, the evidence
discloses or does not disclose a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. No new evidence
may normally be introduced at this stage.

Views of the Independent Person
6.18.

The Chair will invite the Independent Person, if present, to express a view on the evidence and
on whether it discloses a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.

6.19.

If the Independent Person is not present the Chair will read out the Independent Person’s
written representations.

Page 38

14

Appendix 3
Deliberations of the Sub-Committee
6.20.

If the press and public are present, the Sub-Committee will decide whether to resolve to
exclude them from their deliberations. They will normally do so, because otherwise they
would disclose their views on the individuals who have participated and their evidence, and
the balance of the public interest favours free discussion on these matters.

6.21.

The Subcommittee may clear the room or retire to another room. They may be accompanied
by the Monitoring Officer (provided that he or she has not been involved in the hearing in any
other capacity) or the legal adviser, whose role shall be limited to the provision of legal
advice.6.22 The Sub-Committee may reopen the hearing at any stage in order to seek
additional evidence from the Investigator, the Subject Member, or any witnesses present. If
the additional material is not available, the Sub-Committee may adjourn the hearing and direct
its production and by whom.

6.23

In principle the Sub-Committee should first find the material facts, including resolving any
conflict of evidence, then decide if they disclose a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.

6.24

The Sub-Committee must take its decision on the balance of probabilities (“is it more likely
than not?”) based on the evidence before it at the hearing and, exceptionally, matters within
the general knowledge of the members.

The decision
6.25

The Sub-Committee will reconvene the hearing and the Chair will announce whether or not,
on the facts found, the Sub-Committee considers that there has been a failure to comply with
the Code of Conduct.

6.26

If the Sub-Committee has found that there is a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct,
the Chair will invite the Investigator, the Subject Member, and the Independent Person to make
representations on the seriousness of the failure, whether or not any sanctions should be
applied and, if so, what form they should take.

6.27

The Sub-Committee may also invite the Monitoring Officer to comment on those matters, if
he or she has not been involved in the hearing in any other capacity.

6.28

The Sub-Committee may make recommendations as to any other matter arising to the Council,
a committee or sub-committee, or the appropriate officer.

Deliberations as to sanction

6.29

The Sub-Committee will then consider whether to impose any sanction and, if so, in what
form.

6.30

If the press and public are present, the Sub-Committee will decide whether to resolve to
exclude them from their deliberations. The same considerations apply as under paragraph 6.13
(a).

6.31

The Sub-Committee will seek to ensure that any sanction is reasonable and proportionate to
the behaviour of the Subject Member.

Page 39

15

Appendix 3
6.32

The Sub Committee will have regard to all the circumstances including any local factors and
also including the following:

■

■

What was the Subject Member’s intention, was he or she aware of the failure to
comply with the Code of Conduct, or reckless as to the risk of so doing.
Had the Subject Member received or declined training on the Code?

■ Did the Subject Member receive advice (including in particular advice from officers) and,
if so, did he or she act on that advice in good faith?
■
■

Has there been a breach of trust, malice, or dishonesty?
Has there been financial impropriety?

■ Was the subject member exercising his or her right to the freedom of expression, and if so:
First, was this the expression of political opinion (indicating a higher level of tolerance
and a lesser sanction).
Second, is the sanction necessary to respond to a pressing social need, such as
maintaining standards in public life, and proportionate?
■ What was the result or the impact on others of the failure to comply with the Code of
Conduct?
■

How serious was the failure?

■

Did the Subject Member stand to gain personally from the failure?

■

Does the Subject Member accept that he or she was at fault?

■

Did the Subject Member apologise and, if so, in what terms?

■ Does the Subject Member have a record or history of misconduct, has he or she previously
been reprimanded or warned of similar misconduct, and/or has he or she previously
been found to have failed to comply with a code of conduct?
■ Does the Subject Member have a record or history of public service and good conduct?
■

How experienced is the member and does he or she have any particular role or
responsibilities within the Council?

■

Is there likely to be a repetition of the failure to comply with the Code of Conduct?

■

Is this an isolated incident or event or is there a wider problem within the Council?

6.33 If evidence before the Sub-Committee indicates other potential failures to comply with the Code
of Conduct, which have not previously been addressed, the Chair will outline the concerns and
the Sub-Committee will decide whether to refer them to the Monitoring Officer.

Page 40

16

Appendix 3

7. Possible sanctions
7.1.

The Sub-Committee may apply or recommend any one or more of the following sanctions for
failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. The list is not exhaustive.

7.1.1

Censuring the member in such terms as the Sub-Committee considers appropriate.

7.1.2

Reporting the findings to the Council, or the Parish Council, for information.

7.1.3

Publishing the findings in such a manner as the Sub-Committee thinks appropriate and
proportionate.

7.1.4

Recommending to the Council that he or she should be removed be removed from any or all
Committees, Sub-Committees of the Council or from any or all positions or bodies to which
the member has been appointed by the Council.

7.1.5

Seeking an apology from the Subject Member (which may be in terms to be approved on
behalf of the Sub-Committee) if the Subject Member agrees.

7.1.6

Arranging training for the Subject Member if the Subject Member agrees.

7.1.7

If there is a clear connection between the failure to comply with the Code of Conduct and the
use of Council facilities (email or equipment, for example) or premises, and it would be
appropriate and proportionate to do so, withdrawing facilities or limiting access to premises:
provided that although the sanction may inconvenience the Subject Member, it must not
prevent the Subject Member from performing his or her core function as a representative of
his or her local electorate.

7.2.

The Sub-Committee may specify that any sanction may take effect immediately or at a future
time and/or be time limited.

7.3.

Any sanction may be suspended on condition that the Subject Member gives a satisfactory
apology or attends training within a reasonable period.

7.4.

The Sub-Committee may adjourn the hearing to give the Subject Member an opportunity to
make a satisfactory apology and reconvene either to acknowledge that an apology has been
given or to further consider the matter of sanctions.

7.5.

The Sub-Committee has no power to disqualify or suspend the Subject Member or withdraw
basic or special responsibility allowances.

8. Publication and notification
8.1.

The Monitoring Officer will publish the name of the Subject Member and a summary of the
Sub-Committee’s decision and any recommendations and the reasons for them on the
Council’s website within 10 working days of the announcement of the decision.

8.2.

The Monitoring Officer will provide a full written decision and the reasons for the decision,
and any recommendations, within 10 working days of the announcement of the decision to:

8.2.1

the Subject Member

Page 41

17

Appendix 3

8.2.2

the Complainant

8.2.3

the Clerk to the Parish Council (if the complaint is against a Parish Council member or coopted member acting in that capacity)

8.2.4

the members of the Sub- Committee.

8.3.

The Monitoring Officer will report the decision and any recommendations to the next ordinary
meeting of the Accounts and Audit Committee for information.

Page 42

18

